S234148

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

CALIFORNIA CANNABIS COALITION, ET AL.

SUPREME COURT

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

AUG 01 2016

CITY OF UPLAND, ET AL.

v.

Defendants and Petitioners.

Entaily.	įγ ¹ ς.	Wichelife	Cierk
anna de la companya d		Deputy	<u> </u>

Superior Court, San Bernardino County (Case No. CIVDS1503985) Court of Appeal, Fourth District, Division 2 (Case No. E063664)

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Jonathan M. Coupal, SBN 107815 Trevor A. Grimm, SBN 34258 Timothy A. Bittle, SBN 112300 Brittany A. Sitzer, SBN 304313 Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Foundation 921 Eleventh Street, Suite 1201 Sacramento, CA 95814 Telephone: (916) 444-9950

Facsimile: (916) 444-9823

ISSUES PRESENTED

Review was granted without an order specifying the issues to be briefed. Therefore, under CRC Rule 8.520(b), the issues presented are those stated in the Petition for Review and in the Answer, as follows:

- 1. Can the proponents of a new tax evade constitutional prerequisites by introducing the tax as an initiative rather than as a resolution of the governing body? (Petition for Review at 1.)
- 2. Is the proposed \$75,000.00 annual "Licensing and Inspection Fee" a tax or a fee? (Answer at 18.)
- 3. Should the issue of tax versus fee be resolved prior to the election or after the election? (Answer at 24.)

RULE 8.204(a)(2) STATEMENT

A. Nature of the Action

This case was brought against defendant City of Upland ("City") by plaintiff California Cannabis Coalition, the proponent of a medical marijuana initiative ("Proponent"). The complaint challenged the City Council's decision to place Proponent's initiative on the City's next general election ballot pursuant to article 13C, section 2 of the California Constitution, even though, under the Elections Code, the initiative had garnered enough signatures for a special election.

B. Relief Sought in the Trial Court

Proponent sought a writ of mandate directing the City to call a special

election. The City countered that the initiative proposes a new general tax which, under article 13C, section 2, must be presented at a general election for City Council candidates. Proponent rejoined that the levy is a fee, not a tax, and even if it were a tax, taxes proposed by initiative are not subject to article 13C.

C. Orders Below

The trial court denied the writ, agreeing with the City that the initiative proposes a new general tax and that the constitution's specific election date requirement preempts the generally applicable statute in the Elections Code.

The Court of Appeal reversed. It accepted the trial court's finding that the proposed levy is a tax, but agreed with Proponent that taxes proposed by initiative are not subject to article 13C.

The City sought rehearing, which the Court of Appeal denied. The City then decided to cut its losses and accept defeat. But the appellate decision was so bad for taxpayers that the Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Foundation offered to take over the case pro bono. This Court has now granted review.

SUMMARY OF FACTS

The facts recited below are taken directly from the decision of the Court of Appeal since they are undisputed.

A. The Initiative

Plaintiff/Respondent California Cannabis Coalition ("Proponent") drafted and sponsored a proposed medical marijuana initiative. The key provisions would repeal an existing Upland city ordinance that bans medical

marijuana dispensaries, permit and establish standards for the operation of such dispensaries within the City, and require each dispensary to pay the City an annual "Licensing and Inspection Fee" of \$75,000.

The initiative requested a special election. The signatures of at least 15% of registered voters are required to qualify any initiative for a special election. (Elec. Code § 9214.) The County Registrar counted the signatures and certified that Proponent's initiative had reached 15%. The City Council accepted the Registrar's certificate of sufficiency and ordered an Agency Report.

B. The Agency Report

The Agency Report concluded the initiative's \$75,000 annual "Licensing and Inspection Fee" would exceed the estimated actual costs the City would incur from issuing a license for a medical marijuana dispensary and conducting annual inspections of the dispensary. The Report estimated the actual annual costs would total a little over \$15,000. Because the \$75,000 fee would exceed the City's anticipated costs, the Report found that the fee, to the extent of the excess, constituted a proposed tax. The Report labeled the tax a "general tax" because the initiative did not specify how the excess revenue

Cal. Const., art. 13C, § 1(e) ("tax' means any levy, charge, or exaction of any kind imposed by a local government, except the following: ... (3) A charge imposed for the reasonable regulatory costs to a local government for issuing licenses and permits, performing investigations, inspections, and audits ... [provided] the amount is no more than necessary to cover the reasonable costs of the governmental activity, and that the manner in which those costs are allocated to a payor bear a fair or reasonable relationship to the payor's burdens on, or benefits received from, the governmental activity").

C. The Council Resolution

After receiving the Agency Report, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 6267, finding the initiative's \$75,000 fee is actually a proposed general tax to the extent it exceeds the City's estimated actual licensing and inspection costs. Under article 13C, section 2, of the California Constitution, a proposed general tax "shall be consolidated with a regularly scheduled general election for members of the governing body of the local government." (Cal. Const., art. 13C, § 2(b).) Resolution No. 6267 therefore provided notice and direction for submitting the initiative to the voters at the next general election for city council members, *i.e.*, November 8, 2016.

D. The Lawsuit

Proponent filed a petition for writ of mandate in Superior Court, alleging that the initiative qualified for a special election under Elections Code section 9214, and the City's failure to call a special election therefore violated the Elections Code statute. Proponent also argued that the Elections Code statute is not preempted by the constitution's article 13C, section 2 (requiring general taxes to be presented at a general election for city council candidates) because the tax proposed by the initiative is not subject to article 13C, section 2, in that the tax would not be "imposed by a local government." Proponent prayed for a writ of mandate compelling the City Council and City Clerk to place the initiative on a special election ballot in compliance with Elections

² Cal. Const., art. 13C, § 1(a) ("General tax' means any tax imposed for general governmental purposes").

Code section 9214.

The trial court sided with the City. Without separately addressing whether article 13C, section 2 applies to initiatives that propose a tax, the trial court denied Proponent's writ petition, finding that the \$75,000 annual levy qualified as a tax and therefore the initiative was required to be placed on the next general election ballot.

E. The Decision of the Court of Appeal

The Court of Appeal reversed. The opinion is lengthy because it includes a lot of background and rebuttal. But the specific section addressing whether article 13C, section 2, applies to Proponent's initiative is short and contains little analysis. It states, "Article 13C, section 1(e) defines a tax as 'any levy, charge, or exaction of any kind *imposed by a local government*,' subject to seven specified exceptions. Article 13C, section 1(e) does not expressly include fees imposed by initiative. Because Article 13C is silent in this regard, we decline to construe Article 13C as applying to taxes imposed by initiative." (Slip Op., attached as Exhibit A, at 19 (citations omitted, emphasis in orig.))

The Court of Appeal did not limit its decision to the proper election date, nor could it logically do so. Rather, the Court ruled broadly that taxes "imposed by initiative" are exempt from the rules otherwise applicable to local government. Sometimes the opinion describes this as an exemption from "Article 13C, section 2" and sometimes as an exemption from all of "Article 13C." (*E.g.*, Slip Op. at 18 ("Article 13C, section 2 does not apply to the Initiative."); *id.* at 19 ("we decline to construe Article 13C as applying to taxes imposed by initiative."))

In either case, section 2 is the section of the constitution that requires voter approval of new taxes, including majority voter approval of general taxes and two-thirds voter approval of special taxes.

If section 2 does not apply to initiatives, then any proponent of a new tax—even the City Council—can circumvent the taxpayers' constitutional right to vote on the tax simply by proposing it in the form of an initiative.

ARGUMENT

Ι

THE CONSTITUTION'S TAXPAYER PROTECTIONS APPLY TO ALL NEW TAXES, INCLUDING THOSE PROPOSED BY INITIATIVE

It is important to note at the onset that this is not a case pitting the people's right of initiative against a resistant local government. Rather, this case pits two initiatives against each other: Proponent's local marijuana initiative, which requested a special election, versus Proposition 218, the statewide initiative that added article 13C to the California Constitution. The City in this case was only trying to obey Proposition 218's requirement that local general taxes be submitted to voters at a general election for members of the governing body. (Cal. Const., art. 13C, § 2.)

Applying familiar presumptions and rules of construction, it will be shown that the City's reading of article 13C, section 2 was correct. Article 13C, section 2 applies to all new taxes whether proposed by the governing body or by initiative. Although it will be shown that the wording of the constitutional text is unambiguous, even if one looks beyond the linguistics and considers the underlying purpose of the election date requirement, it still applies to all new taxes whether proposed by the governing body or by

initiative. Proponent's contrary interpretation, accepted by the Court of Appeal, confuses "imposed" with "proposed," misapprehends California's power-sharing arrangement between voters and government, and would lead to irreparable mischief.

A. Article 13C, § 2 Applies to Initiatives

Article 13C, section 2(b) provides as follows:

"No local government may impose, extend, or increase any general tax unless and until that tax is submitted to the electorate and approved by a majority vote. A general tax shall not be deemed to have been increased if it is imposed at a rate not higher than the maximum rate so approved. The election required by this subdivision shall be consolidated with a regularly scheduled general election for members of the governing body of the local government, except in cases of emergency declared by a unanimous vote of the governing body." (Cal. Const., art. 13C, § 2(b).)

No one would dispute that a local governing body proposing a new general tax is required by this section to submit the tax for voter approval at a regularly scheduled general election for members of the governing body. The question is whether this section also applies to general taxes that are proposed by initiative.

The analysis begins with a well settled presumption that statutory and constitutional limits on the power of local government apply equally to local initiatives. The people's right to legislate by initiative is "generally

co-extensive with the legislative power of the local governing body." (*DeVita* v. County of Napa (1995) 9 Cal.4th 763, 775.) This principle of co-extensive power cuts both ways. For example, it is presumed that powers delegated by the State to local governments may be exercised by local voters. "When the Legislature enacts a statute pertaining to local government, it does so against the background of the electorate's right of local initiative, and the procedures it prescribes for the local governing body are presumed to parallel, rather than prohibit, the initiative process, absent clear indications to the contrary." (*DeVita*, 9 Cal.4th at 786.)

Similarly, it is presumed that *limits* on the power of government apply to both the governing body and the voters. For example, "[a] statutory initiative is subject to the same state and federal constitutional limitations as are the Legislature and the statutes which it enacts." (*Legislature v. Deukmejian* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 658, 674.) So too for local initiatives:

"Thus, if the state Legislature has restricted the legislative power of a local governing body, that restriction applies equally to the local electorate's power of initiative. For example, in deBottari v. City Council (1985) 171 Cal.App.3d 1204 [etc.], we noted that Government Code section 65860 'prohibits enactment of a zoning ordinance that is not consistent with the general plan.' (deBottari, at p. 1210 [etc.].) We concluded that a local referendum which, if passed, would have caused a city's zoning ordinances to be inconsistent with the city's general plan, was invalid. (Id. at pp. 1210-1212 [etc.].) If the rule were otherwise, the voters of a city, county, or special district could essentially exempt themselves from statewide statutes." (Mission Springs

Water Dist. v. Verjil, (2013) 218 Cal. App. 4th 892, 921 (holding that a statute requiring the board of directors to set rates at an amount sufficient to cover costs applied equally to the voters' ratesetting initiative).)

In sum, because the power of local voters to legislate by initiative is generally co-extensive with the legislative power of the local governing body, state law limitations applicable to the local governing body are presumed applicable to the voters "absent clear indications to the contrary." (*DeVita*, 9 Cal.4th at 786.)

In the case at bar, the Court of Appeal held that state law procedures governing the election date and voter approval of new taxes apply *only* to the governing body; they do *not* apply equally to the voters. But according to this Court in *DeVita*, to reach that conclusion the Court of Appeal needed "clear indications" that the applicable state law was not intended to apply to voters. The Court of Appeal, however, identified only one indicator: silence. It said that article 13C "does not expressly include fees imposed by initiative. Because Article 13C is silent in this regard, we decline to construe Article 13C as applying to taxes imposed by initiative." (Slip Op. at 19.)

The City submits that silence is not a "clear indication" one way or the other. The City also submits, however, that article 13C is *not* silent, but in fact contains a "clear indication" that it was intended to apply to all taxes, whether proposed by voter initiative or by resolution of the governing body.

To overcome the presumption of co-extensive authority and coextensive limitations on that authority, courts look at the applicable statutory or constitutional language to determine whether there is an intent to exclude voter initiatives. Under well-settled rules of construction, one of the "paramount factors" is the terminology employed when referring to the entity. General terms such as "local government" or "public agency" are extremely weak indicators of intent to exclude voter initiatives. In the middle of the scale, terms such as "legislative body" or "governing body" are stronger. The strongest indicator of an intent to exclude voter initiatives is specific terminology such as "city council" or "board of supervisors." (*DeVita*, 9 Cal.4th at 776; *Totten v. Ventura County Bd. of Supervisors* (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 826, 834.)

This judicially created rule of construction interprets the term "local government" as clearly including the electorate, "city council" as clearly excluding the electorate, and "governing body" as possibly excluding the electorate depending on the circumstances. The rule is aided in this case by codified definitions. Article 13C itself defines "local government" broadly and generally without any reference to specific elected or representative bodies. It simply says, "Local government' means any county, city, city and county, including a charter city or county, any special district, or any other local or regional governmental entity." (Cal. Const., art. 13C, § 1(b).) While article 13C does not contain its own definition of "governing body," the Legislature has supplied one. The "Proposition 218 Omnibus Implementation Act" is contained within Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code, under the heading "Powers and Duties Common to Cities, Counties, and Other Agencies." In the definitions section of that part, there is a definition of "governing body" as follows: "Governing body' means the board of supervisors in the case of a county or a city and county, the city council or board of trustees in the case of a city, and the board of directors or other governing body in the case of a special district." (Gov. Code § 53232(a).)

Here, article 13C, section 2 uses two different terms in the very paragraph that is the focus of this case, illuminating the voters' intent – contrary to the holding of the Court of Appeal – that taxpayer protections should apply equally to all proposed taxes, regardless of who proposes them. It states:

"No *local government* may impose, extend, or increase any general tax unless and until that tax is submitted to the electorate and approved by a majority vote. ... The election required by this subdivision shall be consolidated with a regularly scheduled general election for members of the *governing body of the local government*, except in cases of emergency declared by a unanimous vote of the *governing body*." (Cal. Const., art. 13C, \S 2(b).)³

The specific reference to "the *governing body* of the local government" stands in contrast to the more inclusive term "local government," inferring that "local government" *includes* the electorate acting by initiative. Thus, all "local government" taxes, whether proposed by a voter initiative or a resolution of the governing body, must receive majority voter approval at a regularly scheduled candidate election. Only the "governing body" can, by a unanimous declaration of emergency, propose a tax at a special election.

The Court of Appeal turned article 13C, section 2 on its head by ruling that the election date and voter approval requirements do *not* apply to voter initiatives, but that voters *can* propose a tax at a special election. The Court

³ Unless noted otherwise, all emphasis is added.

gravely erred, and its ruling should be reversed.

B. Proponent's Theory Confuses "Impose" with "Propose"

The Court of Appeal based its ruling on Proponent's theory that "[t]axation imposed by initiative is not taxation imposed by local government." (Slip Op. at 25.) Apparently unmindful of the cases cited above which hold that "local government" includes the electorate legislating by initiative, the Court of Appeal found all of article 13C inapplicable to the electorate because, by its own terms, it applies only to taxes "imposed by local government." (*Id.* at 3, 18, 19.)

The Court erred, not only because "local government" includes the electorate, but also because in each case the language in article 13C uses the word "impose," not "propose." They are not the same. While a distinction can be drawn between the two methods of *proposing* a tax; that is, a tax can be proposed by the City Council via resolution or it can be proposed by the voters via initiative, it is impossible to draw a distinction between taxes "*imposed* by local government" and taxes "*imposed* by voters." It is impossible because, under California's constitutional plan, local government cannot impose taxes without voter approval — which means that *all taxes* are imposed by the voters. Similarly, when voters act via initiative they are acting as legislators of the local government, so *all taxes*, even taxes proposed by initiative, are taxes of the local government.

1. Every local tax is "imposed by voters" upon themselves.

Article 13C, section 2, provides, "No local government may impose, extend, or increase any general tax *unless and until* that tax is submitted to the

electorate and approved by a majority vote." In other words, the tax is not enacted "unless and until" the voters approve it. That was the express holding of this Court in Santa Clara County Local Transportation Authority v. Guardino:

"[T]he sections prescribing the voter approval requirements of the measure declare that no local entity may 'impose' a general or special tax 'unless and until' the tax is 'submitted to ... and approved by' the required proportion of the electorate. It is apparent that if a tax is not deemed 'imposed'— which in this context means enacted— 'unless and until' it is 'approved' by the voters, the approval is a precondition to such enactment. Without that approval, the measure will not take effect—in other words, will not become law." (Santa Clara County Local Transp. Auth. v. Guardino (1995) 11 Cal.4th 220, 240 (citations omitted).)

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