IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CALIFORNIA CANNABIS) Court of Appeal No. 4 Civil E063664
COALITION, a California Non	
Profit Corporation and NICOLE) San Bernardino Superior Court No.
DE LA ROSA AND JAMES) CIVDS1503985
VELEZ,	
Plaintiffs & Respondents) SUPREME COURT
VS.) FHED
THE CITY OF UPLAND, A	AUC TO Som
Municipal Corporation and) AUG 1 2 2016
STEPHANIE MENDENHALL,	Frank / Mac
CITY CLERK OF THE CITY OF	Frank A. McGuire Clerk
UPLAND,	Deputy
Defendants & Petitioners)

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY

HONORABLE DAVID COHN, JUDGE

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

A.. Introduction

Significantly missing from the City's Petition for Review and the City's Opening Brief on the Merits is any discussion of Elections Code Section 9214. The City has surgically removed Elections Code Section 9214 from the body of California law that deals with the election process and, in particular, with respect to the initiative process. The genius of the Court of Appeal's opinion is that the Court of Appeal's solution is to construe the term "local government" as applying to the Mayor and City Council members of the particular city involved. Also critical is the word "imposed."

The Court of Appeal correctly interprets Article 13c, Section 2(b) of the California Constitution and appropriately limits it to measures placed on the ballot by the government. This Court has approved of the process by which the government may place measures on the ballot for the electorate to consider. See <u>Howard Jaravis Taxpayers Association v. Padilla</u>, 62 Cal.4th 486 (2016).

The interpretation placed on Article 13c, Section 2(b) is the correct interpretation because it harmonizes with Elections Code Section 9214. The judicial branch should reject disharmony if it can reconcile two seemingly contradictory provisions that are not in fact contradictory upon further analysis.

What apparently caught this Court's attention and motivated it to grant review was

the claim by the Howard Jarvis organization and some local taxpayer groups that filed letters with this Court urging review that some unethical or sneaky Mayor and City Council members could conspire with public employee unions to place a tax measure on the ballot and then bypass the voters by adopting the proposed ordinance. See Section 9214(a) of the Elections Code. It is that fear which motivated the Howard Jarvis group to get involved and which motivated the other taxpayer organizations to get involved. That situation, however, is not this case. That is a hypothetical case that can be dealt with in the future.

If the drafters of Article 13c2 of the California Constitution left a loop hole it can be plugged by either an initiative, state legislation, or by city ordinances in those cities that are governed by a charter.

That there is some hypothetical possible misuse of the initiative process by unethical Mayors and City Council members does not mean that the right granted by Elections Code Sections 1405 and 9214 for a special election should be torn from the law books. Plaintiffs' solution (adopted by the Court of Appeal) makes sense and avoids having to declare Elections Code Section 9214(b) unconstitutional as applied to a so called tax measure.

This entire problem would not have been created had the City not ignored its duty to call a special election. The City of Upland in this case had to stretch quite a bit to use an argument that it normally would resist as have many cities previously. In other words, typically a city government passes an ordinance that could or could not be either a fee or a tax. Typically the taxpayer lines up to oppose the measure by suing to invalidate the provision in the ordinance that allows for a fee or a tax. The typical taxpayer argues that the

measure is a tax and therefore should have been submitted to a vote of the people. Here the only ones with standing to challenge this tax would be marijuana dispensaries created by the measure. Accordingly, the Superior Court below should have granted the writ to compel the special election. If the measure failed that would have been the end of the matter. If it passed then a challenge could have been launched.

It made more sense to let the special election go forward. The initiative process is important. The issue of whether a particular measure is a tax or a fee should never be decided before an election. It basically makes it impossible for initiative sponsors to run the measure or sponsor a measure that involves the levying or setting of any fee. If the sponsors of the measure want to make sure that city voters are not afraid to authorize a medical marijuana dispensary the fee should be set high enough so that the voters would not be afraid that they would be imposing a cost burden on themselves. In such a circumstance the drafter of the proposed medical marijuana initiative would want to set a high fee so that the voters did not vote against the measure out of fear that they would end paying for the costs caused by medical marijuana dispensary. They may want a medical marijuana dispensary but they may not want to pay for its collateral costs. It is only fair that the one who benefits from the measure should pay its fair share to the City to reimburse the City for its police and administrative costs.

However, if the drafter of the proposed initiative sets a very high fee to avoid the argument that the fee is too low and therefore the voters are going to have to pay for the marijuana dispensary we would have the situation we have here in this case which is the City falsely claiming that the fee is too high to be a real fee. This is something totally within the

control of the City by its so called report. What is to stop the City from saying that it would need to employ one officer or six officers or ten officers. The cost of conducting an administrative hearing is huge. So long as the "fee" is limited to the marijuana dispensary created by the very measure why should city politicians be able to defeat the right to have a speedy election by pretending to be concerned about a tax. The issue of whether it is a tax or a fee should be resolved after the election when there will be experience of what it costs to regulate and police medical marijuana dispensaries. If the debate occurs pre election then all we have are city officials speculating with no evidence. Predictions are not evidence. This Court should hand down a decision holding that these types of challenges may only be made after the special election and by a taxpayer injured by the "tax."

In addition to raising the three major issues <u>orally</u> before the Superior Court,

Plaintiffs also raised the same arguments in their <u>written</u> motion filed with the Superior

Court (CT 33-49). The City responded to each of the three arguments in its opposition filed with the Superior Court (CT 65-84).

In their Reply Memorandum filed with the Superior Court Plaintiffs described their effort to get the hearing on April 21, 2015 (CT 414, lines 3-4).

It is not disputed that the City Council did not conduct a hearing to determine whether the initiative included a tax measure or a fee measure. The alleged determination that the \$75,000 fee would be a tax was made by the City Council pursuant to Elections Code Section 9212 which only authorizes a report from the City agency. There was no evidentiary hearing conducted in this case and none authorized by Elections Code Section 9212.

Plaintiffs did the best they could by submitting their own written materials to the City but there was no hearing afforded Plaintiffs on the issue of the tax versus fee. It was undisputed that Plaintiffs were not permitted to attend any meeting of the City staff with respect to its alleged analysis of whether the proposed measure would be a tax or a fee (CT 417, lines 22-25).

Plaintiffs pressed the same arguments in the Court of Appeal. See Appellants' Opening Brief and Appellants' Reply Brief filed with the Court of Appeal. Plaintiffs clearly preserved all three issues. Plaintiffs did everything in their power to try to get the measure considered at a special election including a special election to be consolidated with the California statewide primary of June 7, 2016.

The decision by the California Court of Appeal, <u>California Cannabis Coalition v. City of Upland</u>, 245 Cal. App. 4th 970, 977 (2016) acknowledged the effort of Plaintiffs to get the matter heard as quickly as possible, but the Court of Appeal noted that it might be too late for the June 2016 ballot. The Court of Appeal acknowledged, 245 Cal. App. 4th at 979 that Plaintiffs requested "expedited review and calendar preference. . . ."

The Court of Appeal reached one of the three issues and concluded in favor of Plaintiffs that the initiative petition was not an act of local government to impose a tax. Accordingly, the Court of Appeal did not reach the other two issues - (1) whether the issue of tax versus fee should be decided after the special election if the measure passes and (2) whether the fee is really a tax.

Both sides agreed that Plaintiffs' appeal was not moot. 245 Cal.App.4th at 978. The City is <u>not</u> urging mootness now. All three issues should be resolved by this Court because

Plaintiffs very carefully preserved the issues at all stages of the proceedings and the City addressed all three issues in the Superior Court and in this Court.

B. THE TAX VERSUS FEE ISSUE WAS NOT PROPERLY RESOLVED BEFORE THE ELECTION REVIEW

The City concedes at page 25 of its Opening Brief on the merits that "recent cases have caused confusion," but erroneously asserts that ". . . the tax versus fee question was properly resolved before the election." This is not true.

Plaintiffs were entitled to a speedy, specially set election by virtue of Elections Code Sections 1405 and 9214. It was not disputed that Plaintiffs obtained the required number of signatures for the special election. That should have been dispositive. Speedy, special elections are important when the beneficiaries of the proposed initiative need early relief from an illness or physical condition that the proposed measure would provide. We are talking about cancer patients and other infirm persons who need medical marijuana for their unfortunate condition. Time is of the essence when health is the subject.

Here, the City violated Elections Code Sections 1405 and 9214 by refusing to call the special election to consider the measure. The Court of Appeal in Goodenough v. Superior Court, 18 Cal.App.3d 692 (1971) ordered the Superior Court to grant a writ of mandate directing the City of Coronado to call a special election. The Superior Court had initially denied the writ sought by the proponents of the initiative measure, but the Court of Appeal overturned the denial.

The Petitioner here, the City of Upland, had no right to refuse to follow Elections

Code Sections 1405 and 9214. If there were a claim that the required number of signatures

was not obtained there might have been a reason to seek a judicial determination as to the

number of signatures. The issue of the signatures arguably would be an appropriate subject for pre election review. The issue would implicate neutral City interests. See generally, Mapstead v. Anchundo, 63 Cal.App.4th 246 (1998).

Here, however, the City Council of Upland played politics by sabotaging an initiative petition that was and is facially valid. The City Council purported to determine whether a particular fee was really a tax without any evidentiary support and, more important, without participation by the interested parties, <u>i.e.</u>, the taxpayers or fee payaers who would be subject to the tax or fee.

In Alliance For A Better Downtown Millbrae v. Wade, 108 Cal.App.4th 123 (2003) the Superior Court issued a writ of mandate compelling the City Clerk to certify an initiative petition after the Clerk initially refused to do so on the alleged ground the petition was circulated in violation of state law. The Court of Appeal ruled that the City's appeal was not moot and affirmed the judgment.

There are numerous cases which disfavor or condemn pre election review of ballot measures. See, e.g., Costa v. Superior Court, 37 Cal.4th 986 (2006); Brosnahan v. Eu, 31 Cal.3d 1 (1982); Independent Energy Producers Assn v. McPherson, 38 Cal.4th 1020 (2006).

A pre election review of the tax versus fee issue was inappropriate given the provisions of Article 13c, Section 1 of the California Constitution, which provides, in part, as follows:

"The local government bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that a levy, charge, or other exaction is not a tax. . . ."

If the electorate which adopted the language quoted above had wanted pre election

litigation regarding the tax versus fee issue they never would have placed the burden of proof upon the City to prove the levy, charge, or exaction was not a tax. Obviously this language contemplates a post election lawsuit by a taxpayer or fee payer against the City where the taxpayer or fee payer is claiming something is an illegal tax because it was adopted by the City Council without a vote of the electorate. The provision makes no sense when a pre election lawsuit is filed against the City by the petition proponent. The Superior Court below commented on the weirdness of the situation.

A post election challenge would include an assertion by the City that the provision was <u>not</u> a tax in order for the City to defend the ordinance.

The whole idea behind Election Code Sections 1405 and 9214 is to allow for an early election or separate, special election. This would benefit persons who need speedy relief. Sick and diseased people who need medical marijuana did not want to wait over two years to legalize medical marijuana dispensaries. They have a right under California law to expedite the process. Legislative bodies have the means to expedite the process by adopting urgency measures. What Plaintiffs attempted to do here was to utilize the initiative process to enact an urgency measure. There was no harm to the City in holding a special election prior to November 8, 2016. Indeed, Plaintiffs exposed the hypocrisy of the City when they tried to get the measure considered in a consolidated election to be combined with the California statewide primary on June 7, 2016. Consolidating the special election in Upland with the California statewide primary on June 7, 2016 would obviously have not cost the taxpayers any more than the cost of putting it on the November 8, 2016 statewide general election ballot. The City opposed the request.

The Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association and the Howard Jarvis Taxpayers

Foundation are both well aware of the damage they inflicted upon the California electorate
by persuading this Court initially to take a statewide advisory measure off the statewide
ballot. See <u>Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association v. Padilla</u>, 62 Cal.4th 486 (2016).

Although it came too late for the November 2014 election, this Court fortunately realized
later that it was wrong to remove the legislative sponsored advisory measure from the
statewide ballot. It may be considered on November 8, 2016.

At page 22 of its Answer to the Petition for Review Plaintiffs urged this Court to decide the issue. Plaintiffs were worried about the delay caused by the Petition for Review because the filing of the Petition stayed the issuance of the remittitur by the Court of Appeal. By doing this the City essentially obtained a further temporary stay.

Unfortunately, erroneously granted temporary stays can cause irreparable damage.

Our courts should be mindful of the need for speed in election cases. Here, Plaintiffs did everything in their power to expedite the process in the Superior Court as well as the Court of Appeal. The Court of Appeal did belatedly grant Plaintiffs' motion for calendar preference, but refused to treat its Opening Brief as a Petition for Writ of Mandate.

One more comment on judicial irony is appropriate here. While Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association did get an undeserved stay in the Proposition 49 litigation, it suffered an injustice in <u>Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Assn.</u>, v. Bowen, 192 Cal.App.4th 110 (2011) when its successful appeal from the denial by the trial court of its mandate petition was too late for it to enjoy. The Court of Appeal reversed the adverse judgment, but then remanded with instructions to dismiss on mootness grounds. Here, both sides agree this case is not moot.

Plaintiffs are aware that they could have filed an original Petition directly with the Court of Appeal or this Court but there never is any guarantee that the Court of Appeal or this Court will entertain an original writ petition under its jurisdiction. See, e.g., Diamond v. Allison, 8 Cal.3d 736 (1973), where this Court initially issued an alternative writ to assume jurisdiction over an election matter only later to discharge the alternative writ because this Court felt the writ proceeding was not an appropriate method given the factual dispute. The issue involved the order in which the candidates' names would appear on the ballot. Later, in Gould v. Grubb, 14 Cal.3d 661 (1975) this Court affirmed the judgment of the trial court after an evidentiary trial.

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